Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 1 of 22

FILED 12-20-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 1 Appeal No. 2021AP001705-CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Cedric Tung,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Mark A. Sanders, and the Honorable Sandy A. Williams, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 111 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1925 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4825

414-671-9484 jensen@milwaukeecriminaldefense.pro

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issue

In, State v. Chambers, 2019AP411, in accord with McCoy v. Louisiana, 584 U.S. ____, 138 S. Ct. 1500 (2018), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that it is structural error for defense counsel to concede guilt where such a concession is contrary to the defendant's express wishes. Here, Tung was charged with sexual assault of a child, "Samantha". It was alleged that he touched Samantha's vagina for the purpose of sexual gratification. Tung testified at trial that he, in fact, never touched the child's vagina. Nevertheless, in her closing argument, defense counsel conceded that Tung did touch Samantha's vagina, but argued that, in doing so, he never formed the intent to be sexually gratified. Not surprisingly, Tung was convicted.

In this case, defense counsel did not expressly concede guilt, but she may as well have. Counsel conceded a crucial fact that was entirely contrary to Tung's trial testimony. In

_

¹ This is a pseudonym

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 5 of 22

effect, counsel told the jury that Tung lied when he testified that he never touched Samantha's vagina..

Thus, the issue is: Was it structural error for defense counsel to concede a fact that was critical to the state's case (touching Samantha's vagina), where the concession is wholly contrary to Tung's trial testimony?

Answered by the circuit court: There was no structural error. According to the circuit court, defense counsel did not concede guilt "in any way". Further, the court found defense counsel's testimony at the postconviction to be more credible than Tung's testimony. According to defense counsel's testimony, Tung never objected to the theory of defense (lack of consent) proposed by counsel. Even after Tung's trial testimony, according to the circuit court, defense counsel's closing argument was consistent "with everything else, in terms of being able to explain all the other evidence that had been presented."

Summary of the Argument

The appellate court's decision on this issue does not depend in any way upon the circuit court's "finding of fact" that defense counsel's motion testimony was more credible than Tung's testimony on the factual issue of whether, prior to trial, Tung ever expressed an objection to counsel's proposed theory

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 6 of 22

of defense (lack of intent). It simply does not matter whether, prior to the start of trial, Tung ever objected to counsel's proposed theory of defense (lack of intent for sexual gratification). Once Tung testified at trial, it became abundantly clear to defense counsel that Tung objected to the "lack of intent" theory of defense. Tung testified that he never touched the girl's vagina. Nevertheless, in her closing argument, counsel forged ahead and conceded that Tung's testimony that he never touched Samantha's vagina was false. Counsel instead argued that, despite compelling circumstantial evidence to the contrary, the state had failed to prove that Tung ever formed the intent to be sexually gratified. Counsel's "explanation" at the postconviction motion for her decision to argue contrary to her client's trial testimony is as shocking as it is unreasonable. According to counsel, she conceded the touching because, in her pretrial conferences with Tung, he admitted to her that he had touched the girl's vagina. In other words, counsel made explicit what was merely implicit in her closing argument: she was of the opinion that Tung's trial testimony about not touching Samantha's vagina was false. Counsel's "explanation" represents a total abandonment of her role as advocate for Tung. By the end of the trial, then, Tung had no counsel zealously advocating his position. This is a structural error.

Statement of the Case

I. Procedural History

On June 15, 2017, the defendant-appellant, Cedric Tung (hereinafter "Tung"), was charged with first degree sexual assault of a child (sexual contact with a child under the age of thirteen) arising out of an incident that allegedly occurred in Milwaukee on June 10, 2017. (R:1)

Following a preliminary hearing, Tung was bound over for trial, and he entered a not guilty plea to the charge. (R:35-8)

Tung demanded a speedy trial. (R:5; R:43-2)

There were no substantive pretrial motions filed by the defense. The case was originally set for trial within the speedy trial parameters; however, Tung later waived the speedy trial because his attorney was unavailable due to family leave.

The case came on for trial beginning on February 5, 2018). At trial, Tung testified that he never touched Samantha in a "sexual way" or to become sexually grantified. (R:31-33) On cross-examination, Tung was even more clear. He said:

Q You did touch her, right?

A Not correct.

Q No? So you talked to Detective Wells and you said you touched her over her underwear, that was not correct?

A It's correct that I said that.

Q So, but you didn't do it?

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 8 of 22

A But I didn't do it.

Q So you lied to Detective Wells?

A Yes, I did.

(R:31-38)

Despite Tung's trial testimony, though, in her closing argument, defense counsel pursued a different theory of defense. She said, "So when you look at that and when you look, did this guy have the intent to touch this child in any sexual way? No. *Did he touch her accidentally because he's like in the middle of sleeping or whatever? Yeah.* I think that she was cuddling. I think maybe he grabbed her, maybe he pulled her, but just like the state is saying, well, tights, he dug in." (R:31-72)

The jury returned a verdict finding Tung guilty. (R:31-83)

Thereafter, the court sentenced Tung to fifteen years in prison, bifurcated as seven years of initial confinement followed by eight years of extended supervision. (R:25)

Tung filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R:27)

Tung filed a postconviction motion concerning the burden of proof instruction. (R:47) However, the supreme court's decision in *State v. Trammell*, 2017AP1206-CR rendered the motion frivolous. Thus, the motion was withdrawn.

Postconviction counsel subsequently filed a no merit report. The court of appeals directed appellate counsel to address the issue of whether, in her closing argument, defense Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 9 of 22

counsel conceded guilt without Tung's consent. After further consideration, appellate counsel withdrew the no merit report, and Tung was granted an extension of time to file a postconviction motion.

Tung then filed a postconviction motion alleging that it was structural error for defense counsel, Reyna Morales, to concede that Tung had touched Samantha's vagina when this was entirely contrary to Tung's trial testimony. (R:73; R:88)²

Eventually, the motion was set for a hearing.³ At the motion hearing, Tung testified that he and Morales had discussed their trial strategy. (R:112-7) Tung said that he made it clear to Morales that he never touched Samantha's vagina in any way. (R:112-9)

According to Tung, "[Morales] told me that, in her opinion, she wanted to argue intent. She said that if she could convince the Court that I had no intent, whether or not there was an actual action taken, she thought that if she could argue intent, prove that there was no intent, then I wouldn't be found guilty." (R:112-10). Tung told Morales that he was going to testify, and that he was not going to say that he ever touched Samantha's vagina. (R:112-10) Tung said, "I told her that I wasn't gonna go

-

² The original motion argued that defense counsel was ineffective. Tung later revised the motion to allege that counsel's concession was structural error. (R:88)

³ The hearing was originally set before the Hon. Stephanie Rothstein in Milwaukee County; however, Judge Rothstein recused herself because she had a relationship with Tung's trial attorney, Reyna Morales. After Tung's trial, but before the hearing on the postconviction motion, Morales was appointed to the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. Consequently, the postconviction motion heard by the Hon. Sandy Williams in Ozaukee County.

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 10 of 22

-- I wasn't gonna go along with her defense." Id.

Morales also testified at the postconviction motion hearing. She admitted that Tung told her that he wanted to maintain his innocence. (R:112-24) However, when asked whether Tung ever told her that he was going to testify that he never touched Samanatha, Morales at first said, "I don't recall. I don't think so, no." (R:112-25) Later, Morales claimed that Tung told her that, in fact, he did touch Samantha on her vagina. (R:112-32) This comment, though, was not recorded in any file note; rather, Morales claimed that she simply remembered Tung telling her that. (R:112-32)

Further, Morales denied that, after her opening statement and during the course of trial, Tung ever told her that she was not to concede that he touched Samantha's vagina. (R:112-35)

Morales admitted that she heard Tung's trial testimony that he never touched Samantha's vagina. Nevertheless, in her closing argument, she conceded that he did touch the child's vagina. When asked why she did so, Morales said, "Because he had admitted to me that he had done it. He also had admitted to the father that he had had some touching to the child, and a -- it would have been unprofessional for me to make a statement that was inconsistent with the evidence." (emphasis provided; R:112-36) Morales, of course, recognized that her confidential discussions with Tung were not in evidence. (R:112-37) Rather, Tung's trial testimony that he

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 11 of 22

never touched Samantha's vagina was the evidence. Nevertheless, Morales gave a closing argument in which she told the jury that Tung had, in fact, touched Samantha on the vagina. (R:112-37) Morales conceded that her closing argument was contrary to Tung's trial testimony. (R:112-38) Her explanation for deciding to argue that Tung's testimony was false was because she claimed that she was "ethically prohibited" from arguing that Tung's trial testimony was accurate. (R:112-42) At this point, the following exchange took place:

Q What-- What rule of ethics would prohibit you from advocating your client's trial testimony?

A I don't know if there's any specific rule, you know, I'm just -- I can only do so much with the information that I have.

Q We -- We, as defense lawyers, have an obligation, an ethical obligation, to zealously advocate for our clients in front of the jury, correct?

A Right.

Q And we may personally suspect that our clients were less than truthful during their trial testimony, right?

A Right

Q But we still, unless we know that for a fact [that the defendant intends to lie under oath], we still have an obligation to zealously advocate . . . the client's position, to the jury, right?

A Correct.

(R:112-42) Although Tung never specifically told Morales that he intended to lie under oath, Morales claimed that she did not think Tung was being truthful in his trial testimony because, Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 12 of 22

"[T]hat's not what he had told me, and that's not what he had disclosed to the father when the father confronted him before getting the police involved." (R:112-44)

The circuit court denied Tung's motion for a new trial. (R:112-55; R:104) Tung now appeals.

II. Factual Background

Tung, who was nineteen years old at the time, was staying at the home of Charles⁴, the pastor of the church Tung attended. Tung stayed at Charles' home on an intermittent basis. (R:42-5)

On June 10, 2017, Tung was at Charles's home, and he was left alone with Charles's two daughters while Charles attended his sister's graduation. (R:45-8) Tung was asleep on the couch, and Charles's seven year old daughter, Samantha⁵, got onto the couch and cuddled with Tung. He pushed her away. He then fell back asleep and she cuddled with him again. She was wearing a dress and tights. Samantha testified that Tung put his hand over her tights, touched her vagina for about fifteen seconds, was "digging in", and then he pushed her off the couch.

Samantha reported this to her father the following day. Charles called the police, and he texted Tung. (R:45-12) Tung

11

⁴ Not his real name

⁵ Not her real name

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 13 of 22

replied with a series of texts in which he describes himself as "a monster" and being embarrassed about what happened. (R:45-20)

As part of the investigation, Tung was Interviewed by a police detective, and Tung admitted to touching Samantha in her vaginal area. (R:45-42)

Tung testified at trial. He told the jury that he never intended to touch Samantha in a sexual way. (R:45-31) He claimed that he admitted touching Samantha on the vagina because he wanted to give the police what they wanted to hear. (R:31-34) As mentioned in greater detail in the preceding section, Tung also testified that he never touched Samantha's vagina at all. (R:45-42)

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 14 of 22

Argument

I. Defense counsel wholly abandoned her role as zealous advocate when she argued that Tung had lied when he denied touching the child's vagina.

A criminal trial is designed to be a confrontation between adversaries. When defense counsel abandons her role as zealous advocate for her client, the very structure of the proceeding is implicated. This is precisely what defense counsel did in this case. She gave a closing argument in which she asserted that Tung had lied during his trial testimony. With an advocate like that, who needs an opponent?

Counsel's "explanation" for doing so is completely incoherent. She said that, based on her confidential discussions with Tung, none of which were in evidence, she had formed the opinion that Tung lied about not touching Samantha's vagina in his trial testimony. Consequently, counsel asserted, she was "ethically prohibited" from arguing Tung's testimony in closing.

This is simply wrong. The only exceedingly rare circumstance where defense counsel is excused from zealously advocating her client's position is when the client specifically informs counsel that he intends to commit perjury. Tung never told Morales that he intended to commit perjury. Attorneys who

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 15 of 22

adopt the role of determining whether the defendant's testimony is true or not absolutely deprive the defendant of the zealous and loyal advocacy required by the Sixth Amendment. It is structural error.

A. Standard of appellate review

In making its decision on the postconviction motion, the circuit court relied, in part, upon a "factual finding" that, prior to trial, Tung never objected to defense counsel's proposed theory of defense. To the extent that this finding of fact is pertinent to the decision, it is subject to the clearly erroneous standard of appellate review. See, e.g. State v. Denson, 335 Wis. 2d 681, 699, 799 N.W.2d 831, 840 (2011).

However, as will be developed below, this "finding of fact" is wholly irrelevant to the issue. Once Tung testified that he never touched Samantha's vagina, defense counsel was constitutionally obligated to advocate that position in her closing argument. The error here is that, in her closing argument, defense counsel wholly abandoned her role as zealous advocate for Tung. She asserted that Tung had lied in his testimony. Tung's testimony and counsel's closing argument are matters of record and cannot be disputed. There is no "issue of fact" that is relevant to the issue.

Whether it was structural error for defense counsel to tell the jury that Tung's trial testimony was false is a question of Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 16 of 22

law. "Whether a particular error is structural and therefore not subject to a harmless error review is a question of law for our independent review." *State v. Nelson,* 2014 WI 70, ¶18, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317. Whether an error is harmless is also a question of law for the appellate court. *Id.*

B. It is a structural error for defense counsel to argue that Tung's trial testimony was false.

Recently, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that:

[T]he United States Supreme Court announced its decision in *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. ____, 138 S. Ct. 1500 (2018). In *McCoy*, the Court held that trial counsel cannot concede a client's guilt when a client expressly asserts that the objective of the defense is to maintain innocence and the client objects to the concession of guilt. Id. at 1509. The Court also held that this error is structural, and one for which a new trial is required. Id. at 1512.

State v. Chambers, 2021 WI 13, P2, 395 Wis. 2d 770, 773, 455 N.W.2d 144, 145, 2021 Wisc. LEXIS 16, *2, 2021 WL 684267

In *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1510-1511, 200 L. Ed. 2d 821, 833, (2018) the supreme court explained why this is structural error rather than ineffective assistance of counsel. The court wrote, "Because a client's autonomy, not counsel's competence, is in issue, *we do not apply our ineffective-assistance-of-counsel jurisprudence.*" (emphasis provided)

Here, the issue does not fit neatly under *Chambers* and *McCoy*. That is, defense counsel did not expressly concede

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 17 of 22

guilt in her closing argument. Rather, she made a guilty verdict a rather foregone conclusion by telling the jury that her client, Tung, had lied in this trial testimony when he said he never touched Samantha's vagina.

Nevertheless, *Chambers* and *McCoy* are instructive concerning the question of whether this issue ought to be analyzed under the ineffective assistance of counsel rubric, or whether it is structural error. As in the situation where counsel concedes guilt, where defense counsel tells the jury that the defendant lied in his trial testimony, it is not a question of counsel's competence. Rather, it is a question of the defendant's *autonomy*.

As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

The right to counsel guaranteed by the Constitution contemplates the services of an attorney devoted solely to the interests of his client . . . Undivided allegiance and faithful, devoted service to a client are prized traditions of the American lawyer. It is this kind of service for which the Sixth Amendment makes provision.

Von Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 725-26 (1948).

When defense counsel's conduct contravenes her duty of loyalty to the client, a criminal proceeding loses its character as a confrontation between adversaries. *See, e.g. United States v. Cronic,* 466 U.S. 648, 655-57 (1984); see also, Rickman v. Bell, 131 F.3d 1150 (6th Cir. 1997); *Spisak v. Mitchell,* 465 F.3d 684, 704-5 (6th Cir. 2006) *vacated and remanded sub nom. Hudson*

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 18 of 22

v. Spisak, 552 U.S. 945 (2007), reinstated on remand sub nom. Spisak v. Hudson, 512 F.3d 852 (6th Cir. 2008).

The cases cited above discuss this issue in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. Here, Tung claims that it was structural error for defense counsel to abandon her duty to zealously advocate his position. There is support in these cases for Tung's proposition. In *Cronic*, the court noted that, when an attorney acts more for the benefit of-- and with more apparent sympathy for-- the prosecution than the defendant, *prejudice is presumed. See, Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 659 (holding that no specific showing of prejudice is required when counsel "entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing.")

C. Defense counsel wholly abandoned her obligation to be a zealous advocate for Tung; and her explanation for doing so is shockingly unreasonable.

In denying Tung's postconviction motion, the circuit court remarked that, "The defense attorney did not concede guilt *in any way*." (emphasis provided; R:112-51)

To be sure, defense counsel never explicitly used the words, "Tung is guilty". She may as well have, though. She did the next best thing. She told the jury that Tung's trial testimony that he never touched Samantha's vagina was false; and then she evidently expected the jury to believe that, despite

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-20-2021 Page 19 of 22

lying about whether he touched the child's vagina, Tung never formed the intent to be sexually gratified. That is absurd. Once defense counsel told the jury that her client had lied in his testimony, a guilty verdict was a foregone conclusion. The fact that counsel never used the words "Tung is guilty" ought not mean that *Chambers* and *McCoy* are wholly inapplicable.

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