FILED 03-21-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1705-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CEDRIC TUNG,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS (JUDGMENT) AND THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS¹ (ORDER), PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Finally, a claim that counsel ignored her client's express wish to assert innocence implicates "[the] client's autonomy, not counsel's competence." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1510–11. Thus, the familiar ineffective assistance standard of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), does not apply. Accordingly, a defendant proceeding under *McCoy* need not prove prejudice; a violation of the defendant's right to assert innocence is structural error, requiring a new trial. *See McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511; *Chambers*, 395 Wis. 2d 770, ¶ 2.

In 2021, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized the McCoy right for the first time in Chambers. Chambers, 395 Wis. 2d 770, ¶ 2. Chambers was charged with first-degree reckless homicide. Id. ¶ 1. The court assumed that Chambers had expressly directed counsel to pursue an innocence defense at trial. Id. ¶ 22 n.9. But the court concluded that defense counsel did not concede Chambers's guilt in closing argument by asking the jury to "consider" second-degree reckless homicide where counsel argued Chambers's absolute innocence before and after making this statement. Id. ¶¶ 23–25.

C. Tung is not entitled to a new trial where Attorney Morales consistently asserted Tung's innocence at trial but declined to use in her closing argument Tung's surprise trial testimony asserting a new *theory* of innocence—because Attorney Morales knew or reasonably believed the testimony was false.

On appeal, Tung expressly declines to challenge the postconviction court's findings and credibility determinations. (Tung's Br. 5–6.)⁴ Thus, Tung does not dispute on appeal that he admitted to Attorney Morales before trial that he touched Samantha's vaginal area without sexual intent, and that he did not tell Attorney Morales that he planned to testify that he never touched Samantha's vaginal area, even unintentionally. (R. 112:32, 34–36, 54.)

Instead, Tung argues that, once he testified on cross-examination that he never touched Samantha's vaginal area, counsel's failure to argue in her closing that Tung never touched the child violated his right to autonomy, and thus constituted structural error entitling him to a new trial. (Tung's Br. 17–20.) Tung argues that, while Attorney Morales didn't concede his guilt, "[s]he may as well have" by not changing the defense strategy to repeat in her closing argument Tung's surprise testimony that he never touched the child's vaginal area. (Tung's Br. 18–19.)

Tung's argument is lightly briefed, particularly for a claim that he acknowledges is not controlled by existing precedent. (Tung's Br. 4, 16–20.) *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (this Court may decline to address inadequately briefed issues). But Tung

⁴ The pagination of Tung's brief doesn't match the page numbers of the electronically filed brief. The State's cites to Tung's brief are to the electronic page numbers.

relies on two primary sources of law: (1) the *McCoy* and *Chambers* cases discussed above establishing the right to assert innocence; and (2) *Cronic* and *McDowell*⁵ for the propositions that counsel's decision not to use Tung's unexpected testimony in the closing argument represented a breakdown in the adversarial process and was contrary to counsel's plain ethical duties.

Neither of these sources is availing.

1. Tung is not entitled to a new trial under McCoy and Chambers.

Tung recognizes that his case "does not fit neatly under *Chambers* and *McCoy*." (Tung's Br. 16.) As Tung acknowledges, these cases recognize that defendants have the right to claim innocence at trial, and Attorney Morales made such a defense on Tung's behalf by arguing that he did not touch the child with the intent of sexually gratifying himself. *See* Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) (a person who has sexual contact with a child under the age of 13 is guilty of first-degree sexual assault of a child); Wis. JI–Criminal 2101A (2007) ("sexual contact" is the "intentional touching of" an "intimate part" of the victim by the defendant "with [the] intent to become sexually aroused or gratified").

Tung nonetheless argues that *McCoy* and *Chambers* are "instructive," and they support the conclusion that counsel's alleged error in this case is structural and thus requires a new trial. (Tung's Br. 17.) These cases do not entitle Tung to a new trial.

To repeat, McCoy and Chambers establish only a right to assert a defense of innocence, McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1508–09, Chambers, 395 Wis. 2d 770, ¶ 2, and Attorney Morales

 $^{^5}$ $State\ v.\ McDowell,\ 2004\ WI\ 70,\ 272\ Wis.\ 2d\ 488,\ 681\ N.W.2d\ 500.$

asserted such a defense on Tung's behalf. These cases do not establish a broader right of defendant autonomy in setting defense strategy. Specifically, *McCoy* and *Chambers* do not go so far as to hold that a defendant has the right to assert *a particular theory of innocence* ("I'm innocent because I didn't touch her, not because I touched her unintentionally") or to demand that counsel not concede an element of the offense ("I don't want to concede that I touched her"). Strategic decisions such as these remain within counsel's purview after *McCoy*. *See McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1509 (counsel continues to have the duty to develop defense strategy).

McCoy and Chambers merely hold that defense counsel may not concede the defendant's guilt over his or her express and timely objection. See McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1508–09; Chambers, 395 Wis. 2d 770, ¶ 2. This Court should decline Tung's implicit request to extend Chambers to recognize additional autonomy rights beyond the right to assert a defense of innocence. See Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (court of appeals' primary function is error correction).

Even if *McCoy* and *Chambers* included the right to determine a particular theory of innocence, Tung's surprise testimony at the end of trial that he did not touch Samantha's vagina area⁶ would not have constituted a timely assertion of that right. *McCoy* and *Nixon* stand for the proposition that the defendant's assertion of the right to pursue an innocence defense must be expressly and timely made. *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1508–09; *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181. Nixon could not later claim a violation of his right to maintain innocence where he

⁶ Again, the postconviction court's uncontested findings and credibility determinations established that Tung did not tell Morales that he planned to testify that he never touched the child. (R. 112:32, 34–36, 54.)

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-21-2022 Page 18 of 24

failed to express the wish to maintain innocence when counsel was formulating his defense. *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181.

This timeliness requirement was recognized in a recent judge-authored opinion citable for persuasive value. *State v. Keyon D. Grant*, No. 2020AP785-CR, 2021 WL 870439 (Wis. Ct. App. Mar. 9, 2021) (unpublished). (R-App. 1–12.) There, Grant did not object before trial when counsel was formulating a defense of conceding guilt to a lesser offense. (R-App. 11.) In fact, he did not assert his desire to claim innocence until the end of trial in an outburst to the court. (R-App. 11.) Where Grant failed to assert a desire to pursue a defense of innocence until the end of trial, this Court upheld the circuit court's order denying Grant's new trial request under *McCoy* because it was untimely. (R-App. 11.)

Like Grant, Tung did not express a desire to assert a defense any different from that pursued by counsel until near the end of the trial, when he took the stand. Thus, even if this were an actual McCoy/Chambers case in which counsel had conceded guilt over Tung's eventual objection, his McCoy claim would still fail because it was untimely where Tung did not assert the right to claim innocence (or a different theory of innocence) until long after counsel had formulated the defense. $See\ Nixon$, 543 U.S. at 181; (R-App. 11).

Finally, Tung's argument that this is, practically speaking, a *McCoy/Chambers* case—i.e., counsel didn't concede guilt but "[s]he may as well have" by not adapting her closing argument to Tung's surprise testimony (Tung's Br. 18–19)—is unpersuasive. To be blunt, Tung brought this situation on himself. Tung admitted to his attorney that he touched Samantha's vaginal area but was "adamant" that he was innocent *because the touching was unintentional*. (R. 112:34.) This version of events was at least arguably consistent with his prior statement to the detective (Ex. 6 CD 33:35), and counsel relied on it in formulating Tung's defense. Then, without warning, Tung changed his story on the stand,

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-21-2022 Page 19 of 24

testifying in response to the prosecutor's questions that he never touched the child's vaginal area, even unintentionally. (R. 31:38.)

Tung cannot avail himself of *McCoy* and *Chambers* in these circumstances. As shown in detail below, Tung's about face put counsel in an untenable position, and no other authority Tung references warrants relief either.

2. Tung's argument that he is entitled to a new trial under *Cronic* and *McDowell* is forfeited and without merit.

Because this is not a *McCoy* and *Chambers* case, Tung constructs an argument that is a mash-up of the right to assert innocence under *McCoy* and *Chambers*, the right to counsel under *Cronic*, and defense counsel's professional and ethical duties set forth in *State v. McDowell*, 2004 WI 70, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500. (Tung's Br. 17–20.)

The State understands this argument to be as follows: *McDowell* and Wisconsin's rules of attorney conduct required Attorney Morales to use in her closing argument Tung's unexpected testimony that he did not touch the child's vaginal area. (Tung's Br. 19–20.) Counsel's decision not to make this argument—and to argue instead that Tung was innocent because he touched the child's vaginal area unintentionally—represented a total breakdown of the adversarial process, effectively denying Tung counsel and rendering the conviction unreliable under *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 656–662. (Tung's Br. 18–20.) Invoking *McCoy* and *Chambers*, Tung then labels counsel's alleged error "structural," arguing that it entitles him to a new trial. (Tung's Br. 18–20.) There are several problems with this argument.

First, Tung never raised a *Cronic* claim in the postconviction court that counsel's decision was a total breakdown of the adversarial process; he only sought relief under *McCoy* and *Chambers*. *See State v. Crute*, 2015 WI App

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-21-2022 Page 20 of 24

15, ¶ 19, 360 Wis. 2d 429, 860 N.W.2d 284 (argument not raised in the circuit court is forfeited on appeal).

Second, even if not forfeited, the argument that Attorney Morales's decision not to alter the defense strategy in the closing argument to match Tung's surprise testimony represented a breakdown in the adversarial process is absurd. To repeat, this situation was entirely one of Tung's own making. He told counsel before trial one thing—he touched the child's vagina unintentionally when he was not fully awake—and, without warning, told the jury another version on cross-examination—he never touched the child's vagina.

this unexpected development, Despite Morales proceeded to make a cogent and reasonable argument for her client's innocence that was grounded in the evidence namely, Tung's video recorded statements that were played for the jury, and Samantha's testimony that Tung touched her. Further, counsel's argument was consistent with Tung's prior statements to her about what happened. Morales's closing argument was reasonable, and reflected Morales's own reasonable, on-the-fly assessment of her ethical responsibilities under the circumstances, as discussed below in more detail. Moreover, the fact that Attorney Morales made a cogent closing argument after competently representing Tung throughout the trial proceedings belies Tung's claim that the adversarial process broke down in this case. See Cronic, 466 U.S. at 657–62.

Of course, the effectiveness of counsel's closing argument was undercut by Tung's testimony—but this was Tung's own doing. After Tung changed his story at the last minute, he forced counsel to make a choice: Stick with the defense that counsel had previewed in the opening statement, one that was consistent with Tung's recorded interview

played for the jury and the child's own testimony. Or change the defense to fit Tung's testimony even though it was contrary to Tung's recorded interview, the child's testimony, counsel's opening statement, and Tung's own statement to counsel. That counsel chose the former option not only wasn't a "breakdown of the adversarial process," it was reasonable. See Cronic, 455 U.S. at 658, 662.

Tung argues that, once he testified that he never touched the child, Attorney Morales was compelled by *McDowell* and the ethical rules discussed therein to make a closing argument based on that testimony, and that her decision not to do so rendered the conviction unreliable. (Tung's Br. 18–20.) Tung is wrong.

McDowell addresses the standard of knowledge necessary for a defense attorney to affirmatively act to prevent client perjury. McDowell, 272 Wis. 2d 488, ¶¶ 33–48. McDowell observed that, when a Wisconsin defendant wishes to testify at trial and directly informs counsel that he or she intends to testify falsely, counsel must allow the witness to testify in a "narrative format" that honors the defendant's right to testify and counsel's ethical duty not to elicit perjury. $See\ id$. ¶ 43. The court set the standard for knowledge requiring use of the narrative format procedure "extremely high": it should be employed only when the defendant admits directly to counsel in unambiguous terms that he or she plans to testify untruthfully. Id. ¶¶ 42, 43.

Tung cites only *McDowell* for his argument that the ethical rules required counsel to use his testimony in the closing argument. (Tung's Br. 19–20.) But this is not a

⁷ Tung asserts that Attorney Morales "argue[d]" in her closing "that Tung's trial testimony was false" and "t[old] the jury that her client, Tung, had lied in this trial testimony" (Tung's Br. 16–17.) Tung misrepresents the record. Attorney Morales said no such thing. (R. 31:67–72.)

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-21-2022 Page 22 of 24

McDowell case; the issue is not whether Tung unambiguously stated to counsel that he intended to testify falsely. Here, Tung kept counsel in the dark; his testimony on cross examination that he did not touch the child was unexpected and contradicted Tung's prior statements to counsel that he touched the child's genitals unintentionally.

No, the question here is whether counsel was required to use in the closing argument testimony that she knew or reasonably believed was false. The answer is no under Wisconsin's rules of professional conduct for attorneys.

These rules support Morales's postconviction testimony that it would have been "unprofessional" and "unethical" for her to argue that he did not touch the child's vaginal area at all. (R. 112:36, 39.) The rule requiring candor toward the tribunal provides that "[a] lawyer shall not knowingly: (1) make a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal" SCR 20:3.3(a). Comment 2 addresses the appropriate line between the duty of zealous representation and the duty of candor: "A lawyer acting as an advocate in an adjudicative proceeding has an obligation to present the client's case with persuasive force." Comment 2, SCR 20:3.3. "[A]lthough a lawyer in an adversary proceeding is not required to present an impartial exposition of the law . . . the lawyer must not allow the tribunal to be misled by false statements of law or fact or evidence that the lawyer knows to be false." Id. (emphasis added).

Here, counsel knew or reasonably believed that Tung's testimony was false. It contradicted the version of events Tung gave when "adamant[ly]" arguing his innocence to her. (R. 112:34.) Morales's belief that it would have been "unethical" and "unprofessional" to use testimony she knew or believed to be false was consistent with SCR 20:3.3(a)(1) and Comment 2. This belief was not, as Tung argues, "shocking and unreasonable." (Tung's Br. 19.)

Case 2021AP001705 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-21-2022 Page 23 of 24

Based on the foregoing, Tung has forfeited his argument for a new trial under *Cronic* and *McDowell*. This argument is also without merit.

CONCLUSION

The judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief should be affirmed.